#### **Uldaho Law**

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-18-2018

# C&M Investment Group, Ltd. v. Campbell Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44719

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL
V. ARGUMENT
1. APPELLANT'S FIRST ISSUE ON APPEAL: WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING A CRIMINAL SANCTION WITHOUT HONORING APPELLANT'S PRIVILEGE AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION AS PROVIDED IN IRCP 75(i)(2)(D)
VI. CONCLUSION
II. TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES
Cases
Boise Mode, LLC v. Donahoe Pace & Partners Ltd., 154 Idaho 99 (2013) 8
Carr v. Pridgen, 157 Idaho 238 (2014)
Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd., 137 Idaho 85 (2002)
Duspiva v. Fillmore, 154 Idaho 27 (2013)
State of Idaho Department of Health and Welfare v. Slane, 155 Idaho 274 (2013)
Rules
I.R.C.P. 75(i)(2)10
APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 1

CONTEMPT, Hon. Daniel T Eismann, 2016 Edition ......11

## III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case addressed a contempt of court case involving 10 counts of civil contempt of court and 24 counts of criminal contempt of court. (R., p. 29 through 49 of 636) C&M Investment Group, LTD., (hereinafter "C&M") and Karlin Holdings Limited Partnership (hereinafter "Karlin") pursued the counts of civil contempt of court and criminal contempt of court against Neil Campbell (hereinafter "Campbell"). The criminal contempt of court counts commenced due to a debtor's examination taken on August 24, 2015 in Blaine County, Idaho. That exam sought information which may have assisted in the collection of part of a domesticated foreign (California) judgment. (R., p. 14 through 20 of 636, and p. 33 of 636, ¶ 12).

C&M and Karlin dismissed 8 of the 10 counts of contempt of court seeking a civil sanction during their closing argument giving at trial. The only remaining civil contempt of court cases were counts 1 and 8. (R., p. 488 of 636) Campbell was given a civil sanction by the Court relating to counts 1 and 8 at the sentencing hearing. (R., p. 603 and 604 of 636) The two civil contempt of court charges have been purged and are not at issue in this appeal.

On February 22, 2016 Campbell signed an Advisement of Rights Regarding Contempt document. (R., p. 150 and 151 of 636) The Advisement of Rights Regarding Contempt form APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 2

provided Campbell with the following information. "RIGHTS The purpose of the initial appearance is to advise you of both the charge(s) against you and your rights. You are advised that: . . . You have the right to remain silent (often called the privilege against self-incrimination). You are not required to make a statement and any statement you make can be used as evidence against you at trial. 75(f)(1)(c) . . . If you choose to admit you are in contempt of the court's order, you waive your right to silence. (R., p. 150 of 636) Campbell signed the Advisement of Rights Regarding Contempt on February 22, 2016 and acknowledged that "I have read this entire document and I understand it." (R., p. 151 of 636)

On June 1, 2016 the Order Regarding Appointment was entered by the Court which appointed Lee Ritzau as the attorney for Neil Campbell, the Respondent. Prior to June 1, 2016 Neil represented himself. Mr. Ritzau had just under two months to prepare for trial.

On July 26, 2016 the Court Trial involving 10 counts of civil contempt of court and 24 counts of criminal contempt of court commenced. (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 10, L. 1-13).

This contempt of court trial was held over two days, July 26 and 27, 2016. (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 3, L. 3 and p. 4, L. 3). Petitioners pursued the 10 counts of contempt of court seeking a civil sanction and 24 counts of contempt of court seeking a criminal sanction which are set forth in the Charging Affidavit. The parties and court frequently referred to the 10 counts of contempt seeking a civil sanction as civil contempt of court and the 24 counts of contempt of court seeking a criminal sanction as criminal contempt of court.

During the contempt of court trial, C&M and Karlin sought to call Campbell to the witness stand. (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 132, L. 11).

Mr. Ritzau objected to C&M and Karlin's attempt to call Campbell to the witness stand and stated as follows:

"MR. RITZAU: Judge, I object on the grounds of the Fifth Amendment right; Article I, Section 13 of the Idaho Constitution; Idaho Code Section 19-3003. Mr. Campbell, under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 75(i)(2), he has the right to remain silent." (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 132, L. 12-16).

Mr. Ritzau further stated,

"MR. RITZAU: Judge, then we can go to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 75(i)(2).

THE COURT: 75(i)(2)?

MR. RITZAU: Correct.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RITZAU: 'Trial rights required to impose a criminal sanction. The court cannot impose a criminal sanction following a trial unless the respondent was provided the following rights:'

THE COURT: Wait a minute. Let me get there. 75(i)(2). Okay.

MR. RITZAU: (D) the privilege against self-incrimination.

THE COURT: Okay. And Mr. Campbell has the privilege against self-incrimination on

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 4

any criminal sanction sought to be imposed. And, ordinarily, in a criminal case that precludes the prosecutor from calling the defendant as a witness for any reason, if it's purely a criminal case. I mean, I've never seen one where the prosecutor - - or seen a criminal case where the prosecutor sought to call the defendant to testify even to ask him his name or to ask him where he lives or something that might be privileged. I think the defendant in a criminal case ordinarily has a right not to testify at all. And I recognize what the rules says, the Court cannot impose a criminal sanction following trial unless the defendant was afforded the privilege against self-incrimination." (Emphasis Added) (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 133, L. 15 - p. 134, L. 16).

The Court required Campbell to take the stand and testify. (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 160, L. 11-13).

The Count found Campbell guilty of criminal contempt of court on counts 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 19, 21, 24, 25, 26, 31, and 32. (R., p. 542 of 636)

The Court ordered Campbell to serve 65 days in the Blaine County Jail on the 13 counts of criminal contempt upon which the Court found him guilty. (R., p. 603 of 636).

# IV. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the District Court erred in imposing a Criminal Sanction without honoring Appellant's privilege against self-incrimination as provided by IRCP 75(i)(2)(D) and Camp v.

East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd..

### V. ARGUMENT

1. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING A CRIMINAL SANCTION AGAINST CAMPBELL AS IT FAILED TO HONOR HIS RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION.

A. FACTS RELATING TO THE RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION ISSUE PROVIDED IN IRCP 75(i)(2)(D).

Mr. Ritzau stated as follows:

"MR. RITZAU: Judge, I object on the grounds of the Fifth Amendment right; Article I, Section 13 of the Idaho Constitution; Idaho Code Section 19-3003. Mr. Campbell, under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 75(i)(2), he has the right to remain silent." (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 132, L. 12-16).

"MR. RITZAU: Judge, then we can go to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 75(i)(2).

THE COURT: 75(i)(2)?

MR. RITZAU: Correct.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. RITZAU: 'Trial rights required to impose a criminal sanction. The court cannot impose a criminal sanction following a trial unless the respondent was provided the following rights:'

THE COURT: Wait a minute. Let me get there. 75(i)(2). Okay.

MR. RITZAU: (D) the privilege against self-incrimination.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 6

THE COURT: Okay. And Mr. Campbell has the privilege against self-incrimination on any criminal sanction sought to be imposed. And, ordinarily, in a criminal case that precludes the prosecutor from calling the defendant as a witness for any reason, if it's purely a criminal case. I mean, I've never seen one where the prosecutor - - or seen a criminal case where the prosecutor sought to call the defendant to testify even to ask him his name or to ask him where he lives or something that might be privileged. I think the defendant in a criminal case ordinarily has a right not to testify at all. And I recognize what the rules says, the Court cannot impose a criminal sanction following trial unless the defendant was afforded the privilege against self-incrimination." (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 133, L. 15 - p. 134, L. 16).

Over Campbell's objections, the Court permitted C&M and Karlin to call Campbell. "So, what I'm going to go with is he can be called as a witness as long as - - and he can be asked about the civil contempt issues. I think - - like I say, I think that there's a fairly clear demarcation in this case between the civil and criminal contempt issues. I think he can be asked about the civil contempt issues. He can probably take the Fifth Amendment depending on what questions are asked, but a negative inference can be drawn. In other words, it can't be used - - and it can't be used to support an argument that I couldn't comply. That's an affirmative defense." (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 149, L. 15- 25).

Mr. Ritzau responded to the Court's ruling and stated,

"MR. RITZAU: I agree with that burden, Judge, but I'm going to object, and I just want

to do some things to clarify the record.

This is a combined proceeding, so there are 10 counts of civil contempt and 24 counts of civil - - or of criminal contempt, pardon me.

THE COURT: Right.

MR. RITZAU: Under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 75(i)(2), Mr. Campbell has the right to remain silent for the criminal sanctions.

THE COURT: Absolutely. (Tr. Vol. I of II, p. 150, L. 1-11).

#### B. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

"We exercise free review over the issues of law decided by the district court to determine whether it correctly stated and applied the applicable law." State of Idaho Department of Health and Welfare v. Slane, 155 Idaho 274, 276 (2013)

"This Court exercises free review over questions regarding the interpretation of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure." *Boise Mode, LLC v. Donahoe Pace & Partners Ltd.*, 154 Idaho 99, 294 P.3d 1111, 1115 (2013).

"We freely review the district court's conclusions of law." *Duspiva v. Fillmore*, 154 Idaho 27, 31 (2013).

"Idaho Appellate Rule 11(a)(4) allows a direct appeal from an order of contempt. Thus, we review an appeal from an order of contempt the same as any other appeal'.... We review the sanction imposed upon a finding of contempt for an abuse of discretion." *Carr v. Pridgen*,

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 8

157 Idaho 238, 242 (2014).

"To determine whether the district court abused its discretion, this Court asks: (1)
Whether the trial court correctly perceived this issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *Duspiva v. Fillmore*, 154 Idaho 27, 35 (2013).

# C. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING A CRIMINAL SANCTION OF 65 DAYS IN THE BLAINE COUNTY JAIL AFTER IT REFUSED TO HONOR CAMPBELL'S RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION.

The District Court erred in imposing a Criminal Sanction of 65 days in the Blaine County

Jail without providing Campbell his right against self-incrimination provided for in IRCP

75(i)(2)(D) and Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co. Ltd.

"The distinction between civil and criminal contempt is important because of the federal constitutional rights that the United States Supreme Court has held applicable in nonsummary criminal contempt proceedings. Those rights include notice that a criminal contempt sanction is being sought in the contempt proceedings, . . .; the right to a public trial, . . .; the right to compulsory process, . . .; the right to the presumption of innocence, . . .; the privilege against self-incrimination, . . .; the requirement that contempt be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, . . .; the right to be represented by counsel, . . .; the right to cross-examine witnesses, . . .; the right to call witnesses to testify both in complete exculpation or in extenuation of the offense and in

mitigation of the penalty to be imposed, . . .; the right to testify in one's own behalf, . . .; the right to the protection of the exclusionary rule, . . .; the protection of the Double Jeopardy Clause, . . .; and the right to speak on one's own behalf, similar to the right to allocution, in order to present matters in mitigation or otherwise attempt to make amends with the court, . . .; As stated by the United States Supreme Court . . . 'Criminal contempt is a crime in the ordinary sense,' . . . and 'criminal penalties may not be imposed on someone who has not been afforded the protections that the Constitution requires of such criminal proceedings." *Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd.*, 137 Idaho 850, 860 & 861 (2002).

It appears as if this case was the precursor to much of IRCP 75.

IRCP 75(i)(2) sets forth the rights required to impose a Criminal Sanction and states, "(i)

Nonsummary Proceedings; Trial. . . . (2) Trial Rights Required to Impose a Criminal Sanction.

The court cannot impose a criminal sanction following a trial unless the respondent was provided the following rights: (A) a public trial, (B) compulsory process, (C) the presumption of innocence, (D) the privilege against self-incrimination, (E) the right to call and cross-examine witnesses, (F) the right to testify in his or her own behalf, (G) the right to exclude evidence that was obtained in violation of the respondent's Fourth Amendment rights, (H) the right to counsel, if applicable, and (I) the right to a unanimous verdict if there was a jury trial." IRCP 75(i)(2).

"[I]f both civil and criminal relief are imposed in the same proceeding, then the 'criminal feature of the order is dominant and fixes its character for purposes of review.' . . . A court can

impose a criminal contempt sanction in nonsummary contempt proceedings only if the contemnor has been afforded the federal constitutional rights applicable to criminal contempt of court." State of Idaho Department of Health and Welfare v. Slane, 155 Idaho 274, 277.

"The Constitutional rights applicable to criminal contempt are substantially greater than those applicable to civil contempt. *Camp*, 137 ID at 860-861, 55 P.3d 314-315. In some cases the court could impose either a criminal contempt penalty or a civil contempt penalty, but if the contemnor is not granted the rights applicable to criminal contempt, the judge cannot impose a criminal contempt sanction. *ID* at 861, 55 at 315. Thus the rights granted to the contemnor before and during the hearing can determine the type of sanction (criminal or civil) that can be imposed at the end of the Hearing." *CONTEMPT*, Hon. Daniel T Eismann, 2016 Edition, Page 12.

"If a contemnor is not granted the constitutional rights applicable to criminal contempt, then the judge cannot impose a criminal sanction. '[C]riminal penalties may not be imposed on someone who has not been afforded the protections that the constitution requires of such criminal proceedings, . . . Hicks on Behalf of Feiock v. Feiock, 485 U.S. 624, 632 (1988)" CONTEMPT, Hon. Daniel T Eismann, 2016 Edition, Pages 12 & 13.

The District Court erred when it imposed a Criminal Sanction against Campbell as Campbell's privilege against self-incrimination/his right to not take the witness stand was not honored. The District Court made Campbell take the stand and answer questions posed by C&M

and Karlin's counsel. Once Campbell was forced to take the stand the District Court no longer had the ability to impose a Criminal Sanction against him. Under the language of ICRP 75(i)(2)(D) and its associated free standard of review, the District Court could not impose a criminal sanction in this case. Under Camp v. East Fork Ditch Company and its associated abuse of discretion standard of review, the District Court's imposition of a criminal sanction was improper as the imposition of a criminal sanction without providing Campbell his right against self-incrimination was inconsistent with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to the District Court pursuant to IRCP 75(i)(2)(D) and/or Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd. and State of Idaho Department of Health and Welfare v. Slane.

### VI. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Campbell asks the Court to vacate the District Court's decision imposing a Criminal Sanction of 65 days in jail. Since Campbell was not provided his right against self-incrimination, a Criminal Sanction can not be imposed in this case.