# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-1-2018

# C&M Investment Group, Ltd. v. Campbell Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44719

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

First, as the district court recognized and Campbell does not assert otherwise, the Civil and Criminal contempt counts were factually unrelated. This, of course, makes for a different case than the ones to which Campbell relies, namely, trials of factually related civil and criminal counts. As to the discrete Criminal Contempt counts, Campbell was given the right not to take the stand. As to the unrelated Civil Contempt counts, Campbell was ordered to take the stand but nevertheless given the right to invoke the Privileges, which he did, albeit with negative inferences drawn solely as to the Civil Contempt counts. As even Campbell acknowledged, had the civil counts been tried during a separate proceeding, the district court could permissibly compel Campbell to take the witness stand and be examined as to the facts underlying the civil contempt counts. Reporter's Transcript on Appeal ("Tr.") Vol. I, p. 256, L. 11-13.

Second, all of the above aside, any error of which Campbell complains was harmless and not grounds for reversal. Saint Alphonsus Diversified Care, Inc. v. MRI Assocs., LLP, 157 Idaho 106, 122 (2014) ("A party alleging error on appeal must also show that the alleged errors were prejudicial"). Indeed, Campbell does not articulate in his brief on appeal how having to take the stand created any prejudice given that the district court permitted Campbell to assert the Privileges on the stand (which Campbell did) without prejudice to the Criminal Contempt counts. Moreover, in the context of a bench trial, the judge is presumed to have relied on only competent evidence and disregarded incompetent evidence. State v. Powell, 120 Idaho 707, 710 (1991). And here, the district court expressly stated that its findings of fact regarding the Criminal Contempt counts were not based on Campbell taking the stand. Thus, Campbell was not prejudiced and any alleged error is harmless.

#### II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS/STATEMENT OF FACTS.

The contempt proceeding giving rise to this appeal derives from a judgment entered against Campbell and for Respondents by a Los Angeles Superior Court for over \$24 million. ("Judgment"). The Judgment represented a combination of compensatory and enhanced damages for breach of contract, fraud and RICO violations committed by Campbell in the course of his business relationship with the Respondents. Clerk's Record on Appeal ("R."), p. 489

(Contempt Judgment ¶ 12); R., pp. 285–306 & 306–11 (Am. RJN Exs. F & G). During the litigation, Campbell repeatedly flouted the discovery process—including by refusing to respond to written discovery and failing to attend his deposition. R., p. 489 (Contempt Judgment ¶¶ 10–11); R., pp. 278–80 & 281–84 (Am. RJN Ex. D & E). Campbell's discovery abuses were sufficiently egregious that the California court imposed monetary sanctions, terminating sanctions, struck Campbell's answer, and entered a default against him. R., p. 489 (Contempt Judgment ¶¶ 10–1); R., pp. 278–80 (Am. RJN Ex. D); R., pp. 281–84 (Am. RJN Ex. E); R., p. 188 (Am. RJN Ex. F. at 2).<sup>1</sup> Later, Campbell was found guilty of a felony by a Los Angeles jury as a result of his fraud on the Respondents.

On June 21, 2012, after filing the California Judgment in Idaho, Plaintiffs obtained an order from the district court domesticating the Judgment in Idaho. R., p. 489 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 13); Pls.' Trial Ex. 12. On March 23, 2015, the district court granted Respondents' Motion for a Judgment Debtor's Examination. R., p. 489 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 14); Def.'s Trial Ex. 511. The district court amended this order twice, first on April 1, 2015, and again on August 3, 2015, to change the date for the debtor's examination. R., pp. 489–90 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 14); Pls.' Trial Ex. 13; Def.'s Trial Exs. 512 & 513.

#### A. Facts Relating to the Civil Contempt Charges.

The Amended Order compelling Campbell to appear for a debtor's examination also required Campbell to produce, *inter alia*, documents "evidencing any payments made by Defendant to any legal counsel over the period of 2009 to present, including documents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The facts underlying the Judgment are recited by the district court in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. R., pp. 488–89 (Contempt Judgment ¶¶ 6–9).

evidencing the source of the funds used to make those payments," and "all records relating to financial accounts (savings accounts, checking accounts, or otherwise) maintained in Defendant's name or to which Defendant has access for the time period commencing January 1, 2012 to the present date." R., p. 490 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 15); Pls.' Trial Ex. 13-2 & 13-3. The Amended Order required Campbell to produce the responsive documents no later than April 13, 2015. R., p. 490 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 16); Pls.' Trial Ex. 13-2. Campbell was initially charged with ten counts of Civil Contempt for failure to produce responsive documents. R., pp. 32–33. Following Campbell's untimely production of additional documents, only two of those counts were tried.

At trial, Campbell was called to testify about his failure to produce two categories of records: (1) documents evidencing his payments to one of his lawyers, David Flyer; and (2) documents relating to a bank account he opened at HSBC in Hong Kong. Tr. Vol. I, p. 160, L. 22 - p. 201, L. 25. He was also examined about the completeness of his recent production of the documents at issue in civil contempt Charges Two through Seven, which Respondents then dismissed. *Id.*; R., p. 488 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 6). The district court found Campbell guilty of two counts of civil contempt for failing to produce documents related to his payments to Flyer and documents relating to the HSBC Hong Kong account. R., pp. 494–99, 530–31 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 37–69, 176–85).

#### B. Facts Relating to the Criminal Contempt Charges.

On August 24, 2015, Campbell appeared before the district court for a debtor's examination. R., p. 500 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 71); Pls.' Trial Ex. 1-4. The court put Campbell under oath prior to the debtor's examination. R., p. 500 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 71); Pls.' Trial

Ex. 1-3. During the examination, Respondents' counsel asked Campbell a series of basic questions about his finances and living situation. To nearly every one of these questions, Campbell responded "I don't know" or "I don't remember." R., p. 500 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 72).

Because of Campbell's false sworn testimony, Respondents brought 23 separate Criminal Contempt charges against Campbell pursuant to Idaho Code § 7-601(4), which provides that deceit by a party to a special proceeding constitutes a contempt of court. Each of the criminal contempt charges set forth in the Charging Affidavit related solely to Campbell's untruthful testimony during his August 24, 2015 debtor's examination. R., pp. 33–47. The charged lies relate to (a) the source of funds Campbell used to open his Bank of America account, his car, and where he lived (Counts 11–17); (b) the source of a large cash deposit to Campbell's Bank of America Account (Count 18); (c) Campbell's claim that he did not remember the name of the company in whose name he opened the HSBC Hong Kong account (Count 19); (d) the source of large cash deposits to Campbell's Zions bank account (Counts 20–30); and (e) how Campbell paid his rent during a time when his bank records did not reflect payments (Counts 31–34).

#### C. The Trial.

On February 1, 2016, Plaintiffs filed the Charging Affidavit setting forth Civil Contempt counts (for failure to produce documents) and Criminal Contempt counts (stemming from Campbell's sworn lies). R., pp. 486–87 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 2). On February 22, 2016, the district court held a hearing at which the court informed Campbell of all of the counts against him and advised him of his rights, including his right to remain silent. R., p. 487 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 3). In May 2016, the Court appointed counsel to represent Campbell. R., p. 153.

Prior to trial, the parties engaged in motion practice. At no time did Campbell move to bifurcate the civil and criminal contempt charges. R., pp. 7–9; Tr. Vol. I, p. 256, L. 22-25.

The district court held a bench trial on July 26 to July 27, 2016, during which the court heard both the Civil and Criminal Contempt counts. R., p. 487 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 5). During the trial, Respondents called Campbell as a witness to testify as to the Civil Contempt counts. R., p. 488 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 6). The district court permitted this over Campbell's objections because it correctly found that the Civil and Criminal Contempt counts were factually distinct. Tr. Vol. I, p. 157, L. 22 - p. 158, L. 4. As the district court recognized, Campbell was questioned solely regarding the Civil Contempt counts. Respondents' counsel made "no attempt to cross-examine Campbell on the criminal contempt charges." R., p. 488 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 6). Moreover, Campbell was given the right to invoke the Privileges during this limited questioning and did in fact invoke the Privileges. R., p. 499 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 70). The district court expressly stated that it did not draw from Campbell's invocation of the Privileges any negative inferences related to the Criminal Contempt counts. *Id.* 

After reviewing the evidence, on November 3, 2016, the district court issued written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. See generally R. pp. 486–544 (Contempt Judgment). The district court found Campbell guilty of two counts of Civil Contempt and thirteen counts of Criminal Contempt. R., p. 542 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 222 & 223). In reaching its findings of fact as to the Criminal Contempt counts, the court expressly stated that "[t]he following findings of fact [regarding the criminal contempt charges] are based solely on the documentary evidence admitted or judicially noticed during trial. They are not based in any way on Campbell's testimony during trial (which related only to the civil contempt counts)." R., p. 499 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 70). This documentary evidence included bank statements, check images, and Campbell's own written statement provided to Respondents before the trial. *See, e.g.*, Pls.' Trial Exs. 3 to 6.

On December 1, 2016, the district court sentenced Campbell to serve five (5) days in the Blaine County Jail for each of the thirteen counts of Criminal Contempt on which he was found guilty, for a total of sixty-five (65) days.<sup>2</sup> R, pp. 602–06. Campbell then filed a Motion to Stay Execution of Judgment. After a hearing was conducted, the Court stayed the sentence it imposed on the thirteen counts of Criminal Contempt of Court pending the outcome of Campbell's appeal.

#### COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the district court not err by imposing a Criminal Contempt sanction in a bench trial that did not require Campbell to take the stand as to Criminal Contempt Charges and solely required Campbell to take the stand without prejudice to Campbell asserting the Privileges as to factually unrelated Civil Contempt charges that Campbell did not request be tried separately?
- 2. Assuming it was error for the district court to require Campbell to take the stand as to the Civil Contempt Charges, should the district court's order imposing a Criminal Contempt sentence be affirmed because such error has not been shown and could not be shown to be prejudicial in light of the circumstances?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As to the civil counts, the court also sentenced Campbell to jail pending his compliance with certain conditions. The jail sentence was initially stayed, and Campbell ultimately complied with the conditions without being incarcerated.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The "standard of review applicable to questions of law is one of deference to factual findings, but [the Court may] freely examine whether statutory and constitutional requirements have been met in light of the facts as found." *State v. Hedges*, 143 Idaho 884, 886 (2007). Additionally, "[a] party alleging error on appeal must also show that the alleged errors were prejudicial. Alleged errors not affecting substantial rights will be disregarded." *Saint Alphonsus Diversified Care*, 157 Idaho at 122 (internal quotations omitted); *see also* Idaho R. Civ. P. 61 ("At every stage of the proceeding, the court must disregard all errors and defects that do not affect any party's substantial rights."). Errors affecting constitutional rights are harmless where the court finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the alleged error did not impact the outcome of the case. *State v. Christiansen*, 144 Idaho 463, 471 (2007) (violation of criminal defendant's Fourth Amendment rights was harmless error). Issues not raised in an opening brief are waived. *Tucker v. State*, 162 Idaho 11, 61 (2017).

Here, the district court's factual findings that the criminal and civil contempt charges were factually independent and that its findings regarding the criminal contempt charges were unrelated to Campbell's testimony are entitled to deference. *Staggie v. Idaho Falls Consol. Hosps., Inc.*, 110 Idaho 349, 351 (Ct. App. 1986) (appellate courts defer to trial court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous).

#### II. THE DISTRICT COURT HONORED CAMPBELL'S RIGHT AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION AS TO THE CRIMINAL CONTEMPT CHARGES IN A TRIAL INVOLVING DISTINCT AND UNRELATED CIVIL CONTEMPT CHARGES.

Campbell argues that, under Rule 75(i)(2), no criminal sanction can be imposed against him because he was called to the stand during the contempt trial. Rule 75(i)(2) provides as follows: "*Trial Rights Required to Impose a Criminal Sanction*. The court cannot impose a criminal sanction following a trial unless the respondent was provided the following rights: . . . (D) the privilege against self-incrimination[.]" Idaho R. Civ. P. 75(i)(2).

Rule 75(i)(2) provides a right against self-incrimination *only* as to charges of criminal contempt. It does not provide that same protection for charges of civil contempt. As Campbell's own attorney admitted, "if it was only a civil contempt case, he takes the stand and has the potential to invoke the Fifth Amendment" as to particular questions. Tr. Vol. I, p. 256, L. 11-13. The district court expressly found that the Civil and Criminal contempt charges were factually distinct. *Id.* at p. 157, L. 22 - p. 158, L. 4. As discussed above, the Criminal Contempt charges stemmed from Campbell's lies about his finances and related issues. R., pp. 33–47. These charges were unrelated to whether Campbell had the ability to produce the documents that the court ordered him to produce. In contrast, the Civil Contempt charges related *solely* to Campbell's failure to produce documents. R., pp. 29–33. As such, the district court permitted Respondents to call Campbell to testify solely as to the Civil Contempt charges. Tr. Vol. I, p. 137, L. 21-25, p. 158, L. 5-8.<sup>3</sup> In other words, the district court permitted Respondents to do

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Campbell knew by no later than the February 2016 Charging Affidavit that the contempt trial involved both criminal and civil contempt charges. R., pp. 29–47. He also knew that he could be called as a witness to testify regarding the civil contempt charges. Despite this knowledge, he

exactly what even Campbell admits would have been proper if the Civil Contempt charges had been tried separately.

In the Contempt Judgment, the district court specifically found that Respondents' examination was "limited to questions related to the civil contempt charges" and Respondents "made no attempt to cross-examine Campbell on the criminal contempt charges." R., pp. 488, 499 (Contempt Judgment ¶¶ 6, 70). The court also issued separate findings of fact as to the Civil and Criminal Contempt charges, and expressly stated that its findings of fact as to the Criminal Contempt charges were "based solely on the documentary evidence admitted or judicially noticed during trial" and were "not based in any way on Campbell's testimony during trial[,]" R., p. 499 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 70). This documentary evidence included bank statements, check images, and Campbell's own written statement provided to Respondents before the trial. See, e.g., Pls.' Trial Exs. 3 to 6. These documents showed that Campbell told numerous lies about such topics as the source of funds that he used to open an account at Bank of America. whether he owned a car in 2012, where he was living in 2012, whether he remembered the name of the company in whose name Campbell opened the HSBC Hong Kong account, what assets he had upon moving to Idaho, and how he paid his rent at a time when his bank records did not reflect payment. The evidence used to prove that Campbell lied was not associated with his taking the stand, any testimony he gave on the stand, his invocation of the Privileges while on the stand, or even his failure to produce documents. Campbell was afforded the full right against self-incrimination to which he was entitled under Rule 75(i)(2).

never requested to have bifurcate the civil and criminal contempt charges. He therefore waived this argument.

Campbell does not point to any contrary authority. Instead, the primary case on which he relies deal with criminal sanctions imposed for civil contempt charges. See Camp v. E. Fork Ditch Co., 137 Idaho 850, 865 (2002) (court erred where it announced at the outset of proceedings that charges were civil, never advised contemnor that criminal punishment could be imposed, and nevertheless imposed criminal sanction for those contempt charges). Campbell also relies on out-of-context dicta from State Department of Health & Welfare v. Slane, 155 Idaho 274, 277 (2013). In Slane, the Court noted that "[i]f both civil and criminal relief are imposed in the same proceeding, then the 'criminal feature of the order is dominant and fixes its character for purposes of review." Slane, however, did not involve a trial for factually independent charges of criminal and civil contempt. Rather, Slane involved a contempt sanction that the district court incorrectly treated as a civil contempt sanction when it was in fact a criminal sanction. Here, the district court correctly found that the civil and criminal contempt sanctions were factually distinct and, therefore, that Respondents could call Campbell to testify solely as to the civil contempt counts. This court should therefore affirm the district court's orders finding Campbell guilty of thirteen counts of criminal contempt and sentencing him to 65 days in jail.

# III. CAMPBELL WAS NOT PREJUDICED AS TO THE CRIMINAL CONTEMPT CHARGES BY VIRTUE OF TAKING THE STAND.

As noted above, a showing of prejudice is required for the district court's Criminal Contempt sentence to be vacated. *See Saint Alphonsus Diversified Care*, LLP, 157 Idaho at 122 (district court's order affirmed where alleged error did not cause any prejudice to appellant). Campbell's right against self-incrimination was respected and he was not prejudiced by any alleged error.

At bottom, the issue boils down to the Court requiring Campbell to take the stand and exercise the Privileges with respect to the Civil Contempt charges in open court, as opposed to not taking the stand. Campbell makes no argument on appeal that that this prejudiced him. Nor could he.

First, Campbell was allowed to and did invoke the Privileges when he took the stand. Moreover, in the case of a bench trial, there is no concern that the mere act of taking the stand prejudiced Campbell. Second, the district court expressly found that Campbell was not asked any questions related to the criminal contempt charges, that its findings of fact as to the criminal contempt charges were not based in any way on Campbell's testimony during trial, and that its findings of fact as to the criminal contempt charges were based solely on the documentary evidence admitted or judicially noticed during trial. R., p. 499 (Contempt Judgment ¶ 70). Indeed, the judge in a bench trial is presumed to consider only competent evidence and disregard any incompetent evidence. *Powell*, 120 Idaho at 710. Finally, had the Civil Contempt counts been tried separately from the Criminal Contempt counts, the same district court trying the latter would have witnessed Campbell taking the stand and assert the Privileges in the former trial. There is no reason to believe that any effect on the fact finder under this scenario—a scenario that Campbell concedes would have been entirely proper—would be any different than in the trial that was had.

Even if the district court erred by allowing Respondents to call Campbell to testify as to the civil contempt charges, any such error had no effect on the outcome of the trial as to the criminal contempt charges. Therefore, any error was harmless and the district court's order should be affirmed.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that the Court affirm the district court's Contempt Judgment and Sentencing Order.